IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GARY THOMAS WRIGHT,) Petitioner,) vs.) STATE OF FLORIDA,) Respondent.)

Case No. SC00-2163

APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

MERIT BRIEF OF PETITIONER

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

NANCY RYAN DEE BALL ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 765910 FLORIDA BAR NO. 564011 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 252-3367 COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The State charged Gary Thomas Wright (petitioner) with attempted car jacking with a mask (Count I) and robbery with a mask (Count II) arising from events that occurred on March 17, 1999. R. 20-21. The matter was tried to a jury in September 1999.

At trial Frank Glover testified that he rode around the Orlando area with petitioner and Antonio Kent looking for a likely car jacking victim.¹ Eventually petitioner followed a white car into the parking lot of an apartment complex. Glover and Kent, who were wearing masks, got out of the vehicle. TR. 309. After

¹Glover was seventeen years old at the time of trial. He pled guilty to robbery, and the trial court sentenced him to incarceration for 15 months. TR. 308, 315-16.

Kent took a cellular telephone and bag from the driver of the white car, he and Glover ran into the woods. They were arrested later that night. TR. 309-11, 313-14, 331, 341-43.

Jon Presler, the driver of the white car, saw two men in masks or hoods exit a pink Sunfire automobile and approach him as he exited his own car late on the evening of March 16-17. The men took his cell phone and athletic bag. When Presler refused to give up his keys, the two men ran. TR. 103-11. As Presler drove to a nearby convenience store where he had earlier noticed police cars, he saw the Sunfire parked at a gas station and got the tag number. TR. 111-14. Later that night Presler tentatively identified petitioner as the driver of the Sunfire. He did not identify petitioner at trial. TR. 115-16.

Leilani Ridens was with Glover, Kent, and petitioner on the night of March 16. She was smoking cocaine in the back seat for much of the evening while the men traded driving duties. At one point petitioner followed her into a gas station bathroom and told her she should "make sure [she] didn't know anything about" something the men were planning to do later that evening. She later heard petitioner, Glover, and Kent discuss likely car jacking victims. Eventually they followed a white car into an apartment complex, and Glover and Kent exited the vehicle. Both were wearing masks. Petitioner then drove to a nearby gas station and waited briefly for Glover and Kent. When petitioner decided that something must have gone wrong, he asked Ridens to drive to Titusville. The police stopped them shortly afterward. Ridens testified she understood, based upon conversations in the car, that petitioner "most definitely" expected something in exchange for participating in the evening's activities. TR.229-30, 234-41, 249-66, 270.

Deputy Fernando Zeppieri of the Orange County Sheriff's Office testified that Preslar approached him at a 7-11, reported the robbery, and described the Sunfire. Zeppieri stopped the Sunfire approximately ten minutes later. In a written statement petitioner admitted that he dropped off Glover and Kent and that they discussed a plan to steal a car. Zeppieri also testified that petitioner made oral statements, which were not included in Zeppieri's report, implicating himself as an active participant in the car jacking. TR. 149-53, 162, 195-203.

At the conclusion of the State's case petitioner moved for a judgment of acquittal on the ground that double jeopardy barred convictions on both charges. TR. 349-53. The trial court denied the motion. TR. 352-53. Petitioner did not present any evidence.

The jury found petitioner guilty as charged in the information.² R. 60-61, TR. 419-20. The judgment reflects two second degree felonies enhanced to first degree felonies by the use of a mask. The trial court sentenced petitioner to incarceration for 15 years on each count, concurrent, to be served day for day. R. 8, 12-13, 73-75, 78-79. Appellant timely appealed. R. 82.

Petitioner argued on appeal that (1) the trial court erred by entering judgment on both the robbery charge and the attempted car jacking charge, (2) the order of judgment incorrectly states that he was convicted of two first degree felonies, and (3) the prison releasee reoffender act violates the constitutional requirements of separation of powers and due process.³ The district court addressed only whether section 775.0845, Florida Statutes, enhances the offenses and certified the following question: Is the accomplice to masked offenses guilty of enhanced offenses? <u>Wright v. State</u>, 767 So. 2d 576 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000). Petitioner timely sought review by this court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

² The verdict contains no finding that petitioner wore a mask, and the State conceded at trial and on appeal that petitioner did not wear a mask during the commission of the offenses. R. 2, TR. 283, AB 8.

³The constitutionality of the prison release reoffender act was pending before this court when the briefs were filed below.

The language of Section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1999) is susceptible to only one meaning: petitioner's convictions can only be reclassified if, while committing the offenses, he was wearing a hood, mask, or other device that concealed his identity. The statute contains no language indicating a legislative intent to impose vicarious liability. Even if the statute were susceptible to more than one meaning, this court must construe it in favor of petitioner.

Where all of the victim's property was taken without a temporal break dual convictions for robbery with a mask and attempted carjacking cannot stand.

ARGUMENT

THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED BY HOLDING THAT PETITIONER CAN BE VICARIOUSLY CONVICTED UNDER SECTION 775.0845, FLORIDA STATUTES (1999) WHERE PETITIONER DID NOT WEAR A MASK DURING THE COMMISSION OF THE OFFENSES.

Standard of Review

Aspects or components of a decision resolving legal questions are subject to

de novo review. State v. R.R., 697 So. 2d 181 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997); Wilson v.

State, 673 So. 2d 505 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. denied, 682 So. 2d 1101 (Fla. 1996).

<u>Merits</u>

Section 775.0845, Florida Statutes (1999) provides

The felony or misdemeanor degree of any criminal offense, . . . shall be reclassified to the next higher degree as provided in this section if, while committing the offense, the offender was wearing a hood, mask, or other device that concealed his or her identity.

In <u>Cabal v. State</u>, 678 So. 2d 315, 318 (Fla. 1996), this court construed an earlier

version of section 775.0845 that imposed an enhanced penalty for wearing a mask;

however, in 1997 the legislature amended the statute to clarify its intent to

reclassify the offense to the next higher degree rather than to enhance the penalty.

See, McDonald v. State, 714 So. 2d 643 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998).

In its opinion in this case the district court noted that section 775.0845 is a statute of general application and that when applied to a particular offense it creates a new substantive crime, **if the jury determines that a mask was used**. Thus the statute adds another element to the taking of property with force and creates a new offense of robbery with a mask. Under the well-established rules of statutory construction relied upon in <u>Cabal</u>, this court must strictly construe section 775.0845.

Petitioner contends that section 775.0845 is susceptible to only one meaning: his convictions can only be reclassified if, while committing the offense, he was wearing a hood, mask, or other device that concealed his identity. The record on appeal is clear: the jury did not find that petitioner wore a mask; in fact, at trial and on appeal the State concedes that petitioner did not wear a mask. Even if this court were to find that section 775.0845 is ambiguous, then it must be construed in favor of the accused. <u>See, Cabal, supra</u>.

By analogy petitioner relies upon <u>State v. Rodriguez</u>, 602 So. 2d 1270, 1172 (Fla. 1992) where this court held that section 775.087(1), Florida Statutes, which enhances the penalty for using a firearm during the commission of an offense, requires that the defendant must have actual possession of the firearm and expressly rejected the State's argument that possession could be vicarious or

7

constructive. The district court distinguished <u>Rodriguez</u> on the ground that section 775.087(1) uses the word defendant while section 775.0845 uses the word offender; however, a defendant is the accused in a criminal case, and an offender is a person implicated in the commission of a crime. <u>Black's Law Dictonary</u>, 5th ed. The distinction drawn by the district court is one without meaning in the context of criminal law.

Where the record clearly indicates that petitioner did not wear a hood, mask, or other device that concealed his identity while committing the offenses, this court must reverse the reclassification of the offenses and remand for further proceedings.

<u>POINT II</u>

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ENTERING JUDGMENT ON BOTH THE ROBBERY CHARGE AND THE ATTEMPTED CARJACKING CHARGE.

Jon Presler testified that Glover and Kent took his cellular telephone and athletic bag and then demanded the keys to his car. When he refused to give up his keys, Glover and Kent ran. The State charged petitioner with attempted carjacking with a mask (Count I) and robbery with a mask (Count II). At the conclusion of the State's case, petitioner moved for a judgment of acquittal on double jeopardy grounds.

Standard of Review

A motion for judgment of acquittal admits the facts in evidence and every reasonable inference favorable to the State. Lynch v. State, 293 So. 2d 44 (Fla. 1974).

<u>Merits</u>

Double jeopardy bars separate convictions and sentences of two offenses arising out of a single criminal episode absent an express statement of legislative intent to punish the two offenses separately. <u>See, M.P. v. State</u>, 682 So. 2d 79, 81 (Fla. 1996). The elements of carjacking with a firearm are subsumed by the offense of armed robbery with a firearm. <u>See, §§ 812.1333(2)(a), 812.13(2)(a)</u>, Fla. Stat. (1999), and <u>Ward v. State</u>, 730 So. 2d 728 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999); <u>see also</u>, <u>J.M. v. State</u>, 709 So. 2d 157 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998) (dual convictions for robbery and theft of vehicle reversed where taking of keys was followed by car being driven off); <u>cf. Taylor v. State</u>, 751 So. 2d 659 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999) (dual convictions proper where there was a temporal and spatial break between acts).

Since all of Presler's property was taken without a temporal break from the attempted carjacking, the dual convictions cannot stand. J.M., supra; Butler v. State, 711 So. 2d 1183 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998), *approved*, 735 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1999); Fraley v. State, 641 So. 2d 128 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1994); Nordelo v. State, 603 So. 2d 365 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1992); Hamilton v. State, 487 So. 2d 407 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1986); Morgan v. State, 407 So. 2d 962 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982).

CONCLUSION

Based upon the authorities cited and the arguments presented this court should reverse the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal and remand for further proceedings.