IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GARY THOMAS WRIGHT,

Petitioner,

v.

S.Ct. Case No. SC00-2163

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

_____/

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, FIFTH DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

DAVID H. FOXMAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar Number 0059013

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar Number 0618550 444 Seabreeze Boulevard Fifth Floor Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 (904) 238-4990 (phone) (904) 238-4997 (fax)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I - This Court should exercise its discretion to deny review of the district court's opinion. Because Wright was sentenced as if his convictions were for second degree felonies, the issue is moot. A ruling on the merits would have no practical effect on the case and would amount to nothing more than an advisory opinion.

If this Court reaches the merits, it should answer the certified question in the affirmative and approve the decision below. The legislature has expressly declared that the statute at issue is a substantive reclassification statute, rather than a sentence enhancement statute. A defendant who commits a crime with a masked accomplice should be convicted as a principal to the reclassified offense. This is consistent with the strong policy of holding felons responsible for the acts of their accomplices when those acts are in furtherance of their common scheme.

POINT II - This Court should decline to address the double jeopardy issue in Point II, as it is beyond the scope of the certified question. On the merits, Wright's dual convictions for attempted carjacking and robbery arose from discrete criminal acts. Even under a <u>Blockburger</u> separate elements test, the two offenses pass muster, as each possesses an element the other does not.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW AS THE ISSUE IS MOOT. ON THE MERITS, AN ACCOMPLICE TO A MASKED OFFENSE IS GUILTY OF THE RECLASSIFIED OFFENSE.

Petitioner Gary Thomas Wright seeks review of <u>Wright v. State</u>, 767 So. 2d 576 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000), which certified the following question as one of great public importance:

IS THE ACCOMPLICE TO MASKED OFFENSES GUILTY OF THE ENHANCED OFFENSES?

<u>Wright</u>, 767 So. 2d at 578. The certified question furnishes this Court with a basis for exercising its discretionary jurisdiction, if it so chooses. Art. V, § 3(b)(4), Fla. Const. However, this Court should deny review because the issue in this case is moot.

Wright was charged by information with one count each of attempted carjacking and robbery. (R.20-21).¹ Both offenses are second degree felonies. § 812.133(2)(b) & § 777.04(4)(c), Fla. Stat. (1997); § 812.13(2)(c), Fla. Stat. (1997). However, both counts of the information alleged the use of a hood, mask, or other device to conceal the perpetrators' identity. (R.20-21). Pursuant to Section 775.0845, Florida Statutes (1997), which was cited in

[&]quot;R" refers to the record-on-appeal. "Tr" refers to the trial transcript. "ST" refers to the sentencing transcript.

the information, (R.20-21), a second degree felony is reclassified to a first degree felony when the offender uses a mask or other device to conceal his or her identity. § 775.0845(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (1997).

The evidence at trial showed that Wright's accomplices concealed their identities with bandannas, but that Wright, who remained in the getaway car, did not. <u>Wright</u>, 767 So. 2d at 576. The jury found Wright guilty "as charged in the information" on both counts. (R.60-61). Wright was adjudicated guilty and his written judgment refers to the reclassification statute and reflects conviction for two first degree felonies. (R.62).

The case proceeded to sentencing, where the criminal punishment code scoresheet reflected that Wright was being sentenced for two first degree felonies. (R.70). However, the prosecutor conceded that Wright was only convicted of second degree felonies because there was no special verdict that he used a mask. (ST 2). Accordingly, the scoresheet was corrected by hand to reflect two second degree felonies, rather than two first degree felonies. (R.70-71).

On appeal, Wright argued that his written judgment contained a scrivener's error, reflecting that he had been convicted of first degree felonies. (IB 8). The State conceded that there was a scrivener's error in the judgment and that Wright was entitled to a correct judgment. (AB 8). However, the district court found

that Wright was properly convicted of first degree felonies.

In fairness to the district court, the issue was not preserved for appeal and the grounds advanced for reversal were inaccurate. First, the State's concession in the trial court was on an erroneous ground. A special jury finding is not required where the defendant is found quilty as charged in the information and the information properly alleges the factor giving rise to reclassification. See State v. Hargrove, 694 So. 2d 729, 731 (Fla. 1997); see also Massard v. State, 501 So.2d 1289 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986) (jury verdict of guilty as charged sustains mandatory minimum where information recited the use of a blunt instrument). Wright's argument in the district court that the offense could not be reclassified where he did not personally wear a mask was properly rejected for the reasons stated in the opinion below and discussed later in this point-on-appeal.

A case is moot when it presents no actual controversy or when the issues have ceased to exist. <u>Godwin v. State</u>, 593 So. 2d 211, 212 (Fla. 1992). To apply another definition, a case becomes moot when the issues presented are no longer "live" or the parties lack a legally cognizable interest in the outcome. <u>Murphy v. Hunt</u>, 455 U.S. 478, 481 (1982); <u>WFTV, Inc. v. Robbins</u>, 625 So. 2d 941, 943 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). "It is the function of a judicial tribunal to decide actual controversies by a judgment which can be carried into effect, and not to give opinions on moot questions, or to declare

principles or rules of law which cannot affect the matter in issue." Montgomery v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 468 So. 2d 1014, 1016-1017 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). The mootness doctrine precludes an attempt to obtain an opinion from the Court where there is no real controversy. Lieber v. Lieber, 40 So. 2d 111 (Fla. 1949). A moot case will generally be dismissed. Godwin, 593 So. 2d at 212. On the other hand, mootness does not deprive the Court of jurisdiction, where the issue is of great public importance or is likely to recur. Meola v. Department of Corrections, 732 So. 2d 1029, 1031 n.2 (Fla. 1998).

The reason this case is moot is that Wright's sentence did not take into account any reclassification. On his scoresheet, his offenses were classified as second degree felonies. (R.70-71). Even if he prevails in this Court, he will at most be entitled to correction of a scrivener's error in his judgment. However, this will have no practical effect on the case, as his sentence will remain the same. In essence, if this Court addresses the merits, it will be issuing an advisory opinion. While the certified question presents an intriguing issue, this is not the case in which to address it. Accordingly, this Court should exercise its discretion to deny review.

However, if this Court grants review, it should approve the district court's opinion. The determination of whether to reclassify an offense would seem to be a mixed question of law and

fact. This gives rise to a two-step standard of review:

The standard of review of the findings of fact is whether competent, substantial evidence supports the findings. Findings of historical fact should be reviewed only for "clear error", with "due weight to be accorded to inferences drawn from those facts" by the lower tribunal... We review the trial court's application of the law to the facts de novo.

<u>Hines v. State</u>, 737 So. 2d 1182, 1184 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) (citations omitted).

Because, as will be discussed below, there is a vital distinction between sentencing enhancement and degree reclassification, the State proposes reformulating the certified question as follows:

IS AN ACCOMPLICE WHOSE INVOLVEMENT IN A MASKED OFFENSE IS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN CONVICTION UNDER A PRINCIPAL THEORY, GUILTY OF THE RECLASSIFIED OFFENSE EVEN THOUGH HE OR SHE DOES NOT PERSONALLY WEAR A MASK?

The certified question arises from application of Section 775.0845, Florida Statutes (1997), which provides that the degree of offense shall be reclassified to the next higher level if the offender wore "a hood, mask, or other device that concealed his or her identity" while committing the offense. The evidence adduced at trial established that Wright participated in the offenses of robbery and attempted carjacking with two accomplices. The accomplices wore masks, but Wright did not. Wright was convicted, under a principal theory, of reclassified offenses pursuant to Section 775.0845.

Wright argues that an offense may only be reclassified

pursuant to Section 775.0845 if the defendant him- or herself wore the mask. <u>Cabal v. State</u>, 678 So. 2d 315 (Fla. 1996), which interpreted the section as a penalty enhancement statute, is unavailing. As Wright candidly and commendably acknowledges, Section 775.0845 was amended in 1997 to make it clear that the legislative intent was to reclassify the offense, not to enhance the penalty. Ch. 97-39, Laws of Fla. This legislative change was a direct response to <u>Cabal</u>, as the preamble to the chapter law makes clear. Ch. 97-39.

The distinction between sentencing enhancement and degree reclassification is a key one. A person cannot logically be a principal to a sentencing enhancer, since sentencing factors are personal to the defendant. <u>See Hough v. State</u>, 448 So. 2d 628 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984) (one could be convicted as a principal to armed robbery where an accomplice was armed, but could not receive a minimum mandatory sentence based on possession of a firearm unless personally armed); <u>Hicks v. State</u>, 583 So. 2d 1106 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991) (while vicarious possession of firearm is sufficient to sustain appellant's convictions under the principal theory, it is not sufficient to impose a mandatory minimum period of confinement under the statute); <u>Freeny v. State</u>, 621 So. 2d 505 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) (although possession of a firearm by a co-defendant is sufficient to convict a defendant of armed robbery pursuant to the principal theory, it is not a sufficient basis to warrant the

imposition of the mandatory minimum sentence).

However, where possession of a weapon causes the offense to be classified as a higher degree of the underlying crime, it is well settled that a defendant may be convicted as a principal to the higher degree of the offense. See Hough, 448 So. 2d at 629; Lewis v. State, 625 So. 2d 102 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) (appellant properly convicted as principal to armed offenses of robbery with a firearm, aggravated battery, and burglary of a structure with a firearm, where accomplice, not appellant, carried firearm; constructive or vicarious possession of firearm sufficient to sustain conviction); Jackson v. State, 662 So. 2d 1369, 1372 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) (one may be convicted of armed robbery with a deadly weapon if the weapon is carried by an accomplice during the robbery, notwithstanding lack of knowledge that the accomplice has the weapon); Jones v. State, 648 So. 2d 1210 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995) (if any one participant in a robbery carried a firearm during the commission of the crime, all of the participants are guilty as principals to armed robbery); State v. Williams, 637 So. 2d 45 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994) (defendant was a principal to sexual battery with a deadly weapon where codefendant, not defendant, held the qun); M.K.T. v. State, 685 So. 2d 995, 996 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997) (defendant guilty of armed trespass for participating in offenses with armed accomplices, even though defendant unarmed); Stripling v. State, 645 So. 2d 589 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994) (defendant whose involvement in crime satisfied principals

statute could be found guilty of armed robbery, regardless of whether he personally possessed firearm); <u>see also Terry v. State</u>, 668 So. 2d 954 (Fla. 1996) (defendant properly convicted as principal to aggravated assault, where he supplied accomplice with gun and accomplice held one victim at gunpoint to facilitate defendant committing robbery and murder on other victim); <u>Lovette</u> <u>v. State</u>, 636 So. 2d 1304, 1307 (Fla. 1994) (defendant who participated with accomplice in robbery of pizza restaurant was guilty as principal to accomplice's armed robbery of an employee where it furthered the underlying robbery of the restaurant). If a defendant who never possessed a firearm can be found guilty of these armed offenses under a principal theory, it follows that a defendant who never wore a mask can be found guilty of attempted carjacking and robbery while wearing a mask under a principal theory.

The case law on principals establishes an unquestionably strong policy of holding principals liable for the acts of their accomplices. Because felons are generally responsible for the actions of their co-felons, one who participates with another in a common criminal scheme is guilty of all crimes committed in furtherance of that scheme, regardless of whether the defendant physically participates in that crime. <u>Lovette</u>, 636 So. 2d 1306. This is so even though the defendant does not physically participate in the act, <u>Id.</u>; <u>Alfieri v. State</u>, 722 So. 2d 856 (Fla.

4th DCA 1998), rev. denied, 732 So. 2d 325 (Fla. 1999), or know in advance it will be committed, Diaz v. State, 600 So. 2d 529, 530 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. denied, 613 So. 2d 3 (Fla. 1992); Dell v. State, 661 So. 2d 1305 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995); Perez v. State, 711 So. 2d 1215, 1217 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. denied, 728 So. 2d 204 (Fla. 1998) & <u>cert. denied</u>, 526 U.S. 1120 (1999). The key is whether the crime is in furtherance of the common scheme. Hampton v. State, 336 So. 2d 378, 380 (Fla. 1st DCA), cert. denied, 339 So. 2d 1169 (Fla. 1976); see also Bryant v. State, 412 So. 2d 347, 350 (Fla. 1982) (lethal act must be in furtherance of the common design or unlawful act the cofelons set out to accomplish); Massey v. State, 755 So. 2d 761 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) ("Here, Massey admits that he participated in the robbery; therefore, the question before this court is whether the extra criminal acts committed by Donaldson were in furtherance of that crime."). This is a factual question to be determined on a case-by-case basis. <u>Hampton</u>, 336 So. 2d at 380.

Support for applying the law of principals to an offense reclassified by use of a mask can be found in some of the independent act case law. Felons are routinely held responsible for a murder convicted by their accomplice where the murder furthers the underlying crime by lessening the risk of detection or facilitating the perpetrators' flight. <u>See Lovette</u>, 636 So. 2d at 1307 (trial court properly denied independent act instruction even

though defendant did not personally shoot the victims, where he was a willing participant in the robbery and the murders furthered the robbery by lessening the chance of immediate detection of the robbery and apprehension of the robbers); Vasquez v. State, 763 So. 2d 1161, 1164 (Fla. 4th DCA) (same), cause dismissed, 762 So. 2d 919 (Fla. 2000); Perez, 711 So. 2d at 1217 (court properly denied independent act instruction where shooting of bystander was in furtherance of armed robbery, in which defendant was a willing participant, in that it enabled the perpetrators to successfully flee the scene). Like the murders described in these cases, the use of a mask facilitates commission of the offense. It lessens the chance of detection and intimidates the victim. Surely, if one can be a principal to a murder committed by an accomplice to facilitate a jointly undertaken offense, then one can also be guilty of the reclassified version of a jointly undertaken offense where the act giving rise to reclassification was done to facilitate that offense.

The case upon which Wright primarily relies is <u>State v.</u> <u>Rodriguez</u>, 602 So. 2d 1270, 1272 (Fla. 1992). <u>Rodriguez</u> interpreted Section 775.087(1), Florida Statutes (1983), which permitted the reclassification of the substantive offense if the "defendant" used a firearm. The Court held that the terms of the statute did not allow for vicarious enhancement of the defendant's conviction where the accomplice used the firearm, but not the

defendant. <u>Rodriguez</u>, 602 So. 2d at 1271-1272.

Rodriguez is distinguishable in two ways. First, the statute in Rodriguez, by its own terms, only permitted at issue reclassification if the "defendant" used the firearm. This is a point emphasized in the Rodriguez opinion, which italicized the word "defendant" when it quoted the statute. 602 So. 2d at 1271. contrast, the statute at issue in this case permits By reclassification if the "offender" wears a mask. § 775.0845. An "offender" is defined simply as "[a] person who has committed a crime." Black's Law Dictionary 1108 (7th ed. 1999). The term offender is broader than the term defendant. Whereas "defendant" is limited to the individual being prosecuted and sentenced, "offender" would encompass accomplices, regardless of whether they were the subject of the prosecution. Thus, Section 775.0845 is more susceptible to the interpretation that is applies to accomplices than is the statute that was considered in <u>Rodriguez</u>. See Wright, 767 So. 2d at 577-578.

Second, <u>Rodriguez</u> was decided before the legislature amended Section 775.0845 in Chapter 97-39. Throughout <u>Rodriguez</u>, the Court refers to Section 775.087(1), the firearm reclassification statute, as a sentencing enhancement statute. The preamble to Chapter 97-39 makes it expressly clear that Section 775.0845 is a substantive reclassification statute, not a sentencing enhancement statute:

WHEREAS, the Legislature further finds that section 775.0845, Florida Statutes, should be amended to provide

additional clarification to the courts that the legislative intent behind the statute is not to enhance a penalty but to reclassify an offense the next higher degree . . .

Ch. 97-39, Laws of Fla. Thus, it appears that the legislature intends Section 775.0845 to create a new substantive offense, rather than a sentencing enhancement. As argued above, one can be a principal to a substantive offense, but not to a sentencing enhancer. Accordingly, this Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative and approve the decision below.

POINT II

THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO CONSIDER WRIGHT'S SECOND POINT. IF THE COURT DOES ADDRESS POINT II, IT SHOULD HOLD THAT DUAL CONVICTIONS FOR ROBBERY AND ATTEMPTED CARJACKING DO NOT VIOLATE DOUBLE JEOPARDY PRINCIPLES.

Wright next contends that his convictions for both robbery and attempted carjacking violate the prohibition against double jeopardy. This issue is beyond the scope of the certified question. The State acknowledges that once this Court accepts a case for review, it may review any issue that has been properly preserved and presented, even where the issue is beyond the scope of the district court's certification. <u>See Tillman v. State</u>, 471 So. 2d 32, 34 (Fla. 1985); <u>Savoie v. State</u>, 422 So. 2d 308, 310 (Fla. 1982); <u>Hall v. State</u>, 752 So. 2d 575, 577 n.2 (Fla. 2000). However, this Court routinely declines to review issues beyond the scope of the certified question. <u>See e.g. McMullen v. State</u>, 714 So. 2d 368, 373 (Fla. 1998); <u>Goodwin v. State</u>, 634 So. 2d 157 (Fla. 1994); <u>Raben-Pastal v. City of Coconut Creek</u>, 573 So. 2d 298, 303 n.6 (Fla. 1990), <u>cert. denied</u>, 502 U.S. 811 (1991). Even if this Court grants review based on the certified question, it should decline to address the double jeopardy issue, which received scant mention in the district court's opinion. <u>See Wright</u>, 767 So. 2d at 576.

If this Court addresses this issue, it should approve the decision of the district court, which affirmed the dual convictions on the ground that the robbery was completed before the attempted carjacking. Id. A judgment of conviction comes to the appellate court with a presumption of correctness. Terry v. State, 668 So. 2d 954, 964 (Fla. 1996). In moving for JOA, a defendant admits not only the facts stated and evidence adduced but also every conclusion favorable to the State that a jury might reasonably infer from the evidence. Lynch v. State, 293 So. 2d 44, 45 (Fla. The trial court should not grant the motion unless the 1974). evidence is such that no view which the jury may lawfully take of it favorable to the state can be sustained under the law. Id. The credibility and probative force of conflicting testimony should not be determined on a motion for judgment of acquittal. Id. Where the verdict is supported by competent, substantial evidence, it will not be overturned on appeal. <u>Woods v. State</u>, 733 So. 2d 980,

985 (Fla. 1999).

The evidence adduced at trial established that Wright's accomplices pushed the victim against his car and took his cellular phone and bag. (Tr. Vol. I, 108-109). The victim told his assailants, "You don't want to do this." (Tr. Vol. I, 109). The duo responded by demanding the victim's car keys. (Tr. Vol. I, 109). The victim refused, pushed the men, and ran away. (Tr. Vol. I, 109-110).

Under these circumstances, two criminal acts occurred and dual convictions were proper. See Howard v. State, 723 So. 2d 863 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998); Smart v. State, 652 So. 2d 448 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. denied, 660 So. 2d 714 (Fla. 1995); Cruller v. State, 745 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999), rev. granted, 762 So. 2d 916 (Fla. 2000); <u>Consiglio v. State</u> 743 So. 2d 1221 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), <u>rev.</u> granted, 761 So. 2d 327 (Fla. 2000); Brown v. State, 743 So. 2d 1213 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999); Mason v. State, 665 So. 2d 328 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995); Simboli v. State, 728 So. 2d 792 (Fla. 5th DCA), rev. denied, 741 So. 2d 1137 (Fla. 1999). The dispositive question is whether there were "'successive and distinct forceful takings with separate and independent intent for each transaction."" а Consiglio, 743 So. 2d 1221 (quoting <u>Brown v. State</u>, 430 So. 2d 446, 447 (Fla. 1983)). In this case, there were two distinct offenses and dual convictions are therefore proper. This is consistent with the express legislative intent that each criminal offense committed

in the course of one criminal episode or transaction warrants a separate conviction. § 775.021(4)(b), Fla. Stat. (2000); <u>see also</u> <u>Howard</u>, 723 So. 2d at 864; <u>United States v. Hawkins</u>, 794 F.2d 589 (11th Cir. 1986) (separate acts, no matter how close in time, constitute separate criminal offenses); <u>State v. Perez</u>, 718 So. 2d 912, 915-916 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998) (a defendant who commits more than one criminal act during a criminal episode can be convicted of more than one crime), <u>rev. denied</u>, 727 So. 2d 909 (Fla. 1999).

Under this analysis, a comparison of the statutory elements is unnecessary. However, even if such a comparison were undertaken, it would support the dual convictions. Legislative intent is the polestar that guides a double jeopardy analysis. State v. Anderson, 695 So. 2d 309, 311 (Fla. 1997). The constitutionality of multiple convictions and sentences for offenses arising from the same act depends on whether the legislature "intended to authorize separate punishments for the two crimes." M.P. v. State, 682 So. 2d 79, 81 (Fla. 1996) (quoting <u>Albernaz v. United States</u>, 450 U.S. 333, 344 (1981)). Legislative intent to authorize separate punishments can be determined through application of the Blockburger separate elements test. Id.; Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299 (1932). The <u>Blockburger</u> test inquires whether each offense contains an element not contained in the other. M.P., 682 So. 2d at 81. Where each offense requires proof of an element the other does not, the offenses are considered separate and there

is no double jeopardy problem. <u>See State v. Craft</u>, 685 So. 2d 1292, 1294 (Fla. 1996). For purposes of this analysis, the fact that the offenses arise from the same conduct makes no difference. <u>M.P.</u>, 682 So. 2d at 82.

Wright was convicted of robbery and attempted carjacking. (R.62). Each offense contains an element the other does not. Robbery requires a completed taking, whereas an attempted offense is by definition left incomplete.² § 812.13(1), Fla. Stat. (1997); § 777.04(1), Fla. Stat. (1997). Attempted carjacking requires that the object of the attempted taking be a motor vehicle, an element not included in robbery. § 812.133(1), Fla. Stat. (1997); § 812.13(1), Fla. Stat. (1997). Accordingly, the offenses pass the <u>Blockburger</u> separate elements test and dual convictions are proper.

This Court is currently reviewing <u>Cruller</u> to determine if there is a double jeopardy violation in dual convictions for robbery and carjacking. <u>See Cruller v. State</u>, 762 So. 2d 916 (Fla. 2000) (granting review). That case involves a completed carjacking and is therefore distinguishable from this case. It appears that the <u>Consiglio</u> case also addresses this same issue. Case no. SC99-125.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument and authority, the State respectfully requests that this Honorable Court approve the district court's decision in all respects.